1979

State of Utah v. Johnnie M. Chavez : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged by Information with the crimes of Manslaughter and Automobile Homicide arising out of an automobile accident on July 21, 1977.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The matter was tried before the Honorable Ernest F.

Baldwin, Jr. sitting with a jury, on March 27, 28, and 29, 1978.

The case was sent to the jury on the charge of Automobile Homicide and appellant was found guilty of that offense. Thereafter, appellant was committed to the Utah State Prison for the term provided by law, zero to five years.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks the reversal of the conviction against

him. In the alternative, appellant seeks a new trial and that

appellant be properly sentenced.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 21, 1977, at 10:45 p.m. at 3900 South State Street in Salt Lake County, appellant was involved in an automobile accident with another automobile driven by Gunnar Skollingsberg (R. 219, 220, 361, 362). In the Skollingsberg vehicle was 26 month old Eric who died as a result of head injuries suffered in the accident.

Mr. Skollingsberg testified he was southbound on State Street, stopped for a red light in the left turn lane, then turned left, or east, onto 3900 South when his car was hit by an automobile coming north on State Street (R. 220-229). Mr. Skollingsberg said his left turn light was green when he last saw it (R. 229).

Other persons at the intersection said appellant's automobile was going north on State Street in the eastern most part of the road, at a high rate of speed when the two cars collided (R. 247, 265). The automobile driven by appellant was in what is used as a right turn lane, a cement gutter portion of the road, not designated as part of the road but used frequently by automobile traffic and buses (R. 249, 354). There were skid marks shortly before the point of impact (R. 326).

Appellant was arrested near the accident scene, walking briskly, and was administered first aid for his injuries, and taken to a hospital (R. 304, 309). The arresting officers said they

smelled the odor of alcohol on appellant, but made no other observations of him other than that appellant was "upset" (R. 305,313).

At the hospital appellant told the officer that the light was green for him (R. 313, 323). Samples of blood were taken from appellant at 12:14 a.m. and 12:48 a.m. on July 22, 1977 (R. 372, 373, Exhibits 11 and 12). Lynn Davis, a chemist, performed tests on appellant's blood samples and determined the blood alcohol level to be 0.19 for each of the two tests (R. 396, Exhibits 11 and 12). Bryan Finkle, a pharmacologist, said that given the facts he had, and assuming the last drink of alcohol was 10:30 p.m. on July 21, 1977, the blood alcohol level would have been between 0.05 and 0.08 at 10:45 p.m., the time of the accident (R. 459).

None of the arresting officers, or others who had contact with appellant at the accident scene or the hospital, were asked for, nor did they render, an opinion as to whether appellant was under the influence of alcohol. Eppie Duran, who was with appellant before and during the accident, said appellant was "not unusual" in his behavior, but he told appellant to slow down (R. 362).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT BELOW ERRED BY INSTRUCTING THAT AN ELEMENT OF AUTOMOBILE HOMICIDE WAS NEGLIGENCE AND THE COURT PROPERLY SHOULD HAVE INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT CRIMINAL NEGLIGENCE IS REQUIRED TO SUSTAIN A CHARGE OF AUTOMOBILE HOMICIDE.

Appellant was charged in one count of the Information with Automobile Homicide. Appellant contends that the Court erroneously instructed the jury in the elements of automobile homicide because the Court instructed the jury that simple negligence was all that the State needed to prove and appellant contends that criminal negligence is a necessary element of any homicide offense in the State of Utah.

The Court in Instruction No. 14 (R. 75) defined automobile homicide as defined in Utah Code Ann. §76-5-207 (1953 as amended) and said that it was sufficient if a person caused the death of another by operating a vehicle in a negligent manner. The Court in Instruction No. 15 (R. 76) also used in paragraph 4 the term simple negligence as the necessary element. Negligence was defined by the Court in Instruction Nos. 18 and 19 (R. 79, 80). Appellant excepted to the giving of those instructions (R. 472) on the basis that criminal negligence was necessary. Appellant offered instructions which defined automobile homicide and required criminal negligence and set out the elements of automobile homicide, one of those elements being criminal negligence rather than simple negligence (R. 107, 108).

Appellant's contention at the time of trial and now is that under our statutes no offense is a criminal offense unless a person acts intentionally, knowingly, recklessly or with criminal negligence or his act constitutes an offense involving strict liability. Utah Code Ann. §76-2-101 (1953 as amended). Further, appellant was charged with a form of criminal homicide and our statute, Utah Code Ann. §76-5-201 (1953 as amended) provides that a person commits criminal homicide if he intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence unlawfully causes the death of another. Criminal Homicide is defined as murder in the first and second degree, manslaughter, or negligent homicide, or automobile homicide. Appellant is fully aware that this argument has been made and rejected by this Court in three previous cases, State v. Durant, 561 P.2d 1056 (Utah, 1977), State v. Wade, 572 P.2d 398 (Utah, 1977) and State v. Anderson, 561 P.2d 1061 (Utah, 1977). Appellant contends that the opinions in those cases are and were erroneous and the dissenting opinion of Justice Maughan in State v. Durant, supra, is the correct law in the State of Utah, and should be adopted by this Court and the above three cited cases should be overruled based upon reasoning set forth by Justice Maughan. Our statutes are clear in defining offenses and there is a substantial difference between simple negligence as defined by this Court in those cases and as defined by the trial court in this matter in its Instruction Nos. 18 and 19 and in criminal negligence as defined by

our code.

Under the facts of this case where appellant was found guilty of automobile homicide, it is apparent that the jury found appellant to be negligent in his driving pattern otherwise appellant could not have been found guilty. However, had the jury been properly instructed that he must have acted with criminal negligence using the definition of criminal negligence, the jury may not have found that the risk taken by appellant was of such a nature and degree that failure to perceive it (namely the red light) constituted a gross deviation from the standard of care than an ordinary person would exercise in all the circumstances as viewed from appellant's standpoint. That is, it is easy to say in retrospect that a jury would find going through a red light to be criminal negligence but that can only be said because the jury found appellant was negligent in apparently going through a red light. The clear difference between negligence and criminal negligence could easily have made a vast difference in the outcome of this case as the evidence of intoxication was slight or nil as will be discussed in Point II and Point III.

This Court should overrule the decisions in State v. Durant, supra, State v. Anderson, supra, and State v. Wade, supra, and follow our statutes as set forth above and adopt the reasoning of Justice Maughan in his dissenting opinion in State v. Durant, supra.

POINT II

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE PRESUMPTIONS CREATED BY A BLOOD ALCOHOL LEVEL ABOVE 0.08 BECAUSE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT SUCH AN INSTRUCTION.

Appellant contends it was reversible error for the trial court to instruct the jury on the presumptions created by a certain blood alcohol level because there was absolutely no evidence to support such an instruction, and such an instruction only confused and deluded the jury in their deliberations and confused the question of intoxication.

To convict one of automobile homicide, the State must prove that a person is under the influence of intoxicating liquor to a degree which renders the person incapable of safely driving a vehicle. Clearly from that the State must prove that at the time of the driving which allegedly resulted in the death that the person was under the influence of alcohol. The Court so instructed the jury, but the Court also instructed the jury on the presumptions created by certain blood alcohol levels. In Instruction No. 17 (R. 78) the Court instructed the jury that if there was at the time of driving 0.05% or less by weight of alcohol in appellant's blood it was presumed he was not under the influence of intoxicating liquor. If the blood alcohol level was between 0.05 and 0.08 at the time of the driving there is no presumption and the Court instructed in paragraph number 3 of Instruction No. 17 that if there was at the time of driving 0.08% or more by weight of alcohol

in appellant's blood it shall be presumed that appellant was under the influence of intoxicating liquor. Appellant objected to that instruction (R. 472) on the basis that there was no evidence to support such an instruction (R. 473).

In an effort to show appellant's alleged intoxication the State introduced evidence that appellant's blood was taken at 12:14 a.m. and 12:48 a.m. on July 22, these times being some hour and a half and two hours after the incident is alleged to have occurred at 10:45 p.m. on July 21, 1977 (R. 390, 396, 370, 373). At those times in the early hours of July 22 there was testimony, objected to (see Point III A) that appellant's blood alcohol level at those times was 0.19. In an effort to "relate back" or "extrapolate" those figures back to the relevant time of the accident, 10:45 p.m. on July 21 (R. 32) the State called Bryan Finkle, employed by the University of Utah as a toxicologist and pharmacologist. He testified at length, taking 32 pages of transcript, about the effects of alcohol on the body and about how one can perform such computations in attempting to figure a blood alcohol level at an earlier time given the blood alcohol level at a later time. He engaged in certain assumptions given him and testified that it was very important that he know when the last drink occurred before driving because without that information he could not possibly know a person's blood alcohol level at a given time (R. 458). He assumed, apparently based upon the testimony of Eppie Duran that

Mr. Duran had been with appellant during the evening and appellant had nothing to drink after 10:30 p.m. and before that he had a glass with something in it (R. 356, 357, 358), that appellant's last drink would have been no later than 10:30 p.m. on July 21, 1977. Given that assumption and other factors which he assumed he related back to the time of driving, 10:45 p.m. and said that appellant's blood alcohol level would have been between 0.05 and 0.08 (R. 459). There was no other evidence given as to appellant's blood alcohol level. There was no evidence that it was higher than 0.08 at the time of driving, only that it was 0.19 some one and half and two hours later and Dr. Finkle described the phenomenon of blood alcohol level rising to reach a certain peak and then decreasing linearly over time. Simply stated there was no evidence that at the time of driving the blood alcohol level was above 0.08. Therefore, the instruction given by the Court was confusing and erroneous and was reversible error.

In State v. Chealey, 100 Utah 420, 116 P.2d 377 (1941) this Court reversed a conviction for involuntary manslaughter based upon reasons appellant is advancing in this case. In that case the Court instructed the jury that it was unlawful for a person to be driving on a public highway at a speed greater than was reasonable and prudent and the Court pointed out that there was no evidence in the State's case at all, that the defendant in that case was driving at an excessive speed. The Court pointed out that the instruction was a correct general statement of the law but served no purpose

in the case and should not have been given because there was no evidence of the speed that was greater than that which was reasonable and prudent. The Court also instructed the jury that it was unlawful for a person to drive while he was under the influence to such an extent that his ability to see objects was diminished in any substantial degree. Again the Court pointed out that if the State's evidence had shown that the defendant was under the influence of intoxicating liquor the instruction would have been correct. The instruction given by the Court did correctly state the traffic laws but this Court pointed out that the jury was committed "to go fishing into fields upon which no evidence was presented". This Court reversed the conviction.

In State v. Pacheco, 27 Utah 2d 45, 492 P.2d 1347 (1972) this Court reversed a conviction for grand larceny because an instruction was given defining aiding and abetting and there was no evidence supporting such an instruction. That was the only point on appeal and that was the sole basis for this Court's reversing the conviction.

Appellant contends that in this case there the testimony was lengthy dealing with this "relation back" testimony as to what a person's blood alcohol level is at any given time, that it was particularly troublesome to the jury to decide what to do with Instruction No. 17 of the Court when coupled with the testimony of the so-called experts. The bottom line of Dr. Finkle's testimony was that the blood alcohol level at the time of driving was less than

0.08. An instruction telling them what presumption arises if it is more than 0.08 was simply confusing because there was testimony that at other times the blood alcohol level was higher and such an instruction could do nothing but confuse the jury on this technical aspect of the case. Appellant contends that the giving of such an instruction, properly objected to, was reversible error.

Most significantly, this Court in State v. Bradley, 578 P.2d 1267 (Utah, 1978) held that where the State's evidence showed a 0.06 blood alcohol level at the time of the test, such a reading would not have given rise to the presumption at the time of the accident. If the State fails to show the presumption arises, the Court held, it is error to instruct the jury regarding the presumptions.

POINT III

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AT THE END OF THE STATE'S CASE BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SHOW APPELLANT WAS UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF ALCOHOL.

Appellant contends that the evidence was insufficient to convict him on the charge of automobile homicide and for that reason the court below erred in not granting appellant's motion to dismiss made at the end of the State's case (R. 469). Appellant contends there was simply no evidence of his intoxication at the time of driving and of course intoxication is a necessary element of automobile homicide as the jury was instructed (R. 76).

The two officers who initially stopped appellant both testified that they found him walking rapidly near the scene and in injured condition (R. 304). Deputy Frank Smith said that he smelled the odor of alcohol on appellant (R. 305) but significantly was asked for no other observations concerning appellant's condition nor gave an opinion as to his state of intoxication. Deputy Jerry Rigby also said he smelled the odor of alcohol about appellant (R. 310) but he was never asked nor gave any opinions nor described any other observations other than saying appellant appeared to be "upset" (R. 313). Two other officers, Kenneth Peay and Arlo Wilkins of the Utah Highway Patrol, described that they observed appellant at the hospital from 11:30 p.m. on July 21 until the tests were administered at 12:14 a.m. on July 22 and they said nothing of appellant's condition and gave no opinions as to his level of intoxication. Evelyn Mayberry, the nurse who took blood samples from appellant on July 22 at 12:14 a.m. and 12:48 a.m. talked with appellant on those occasions and gave no opinion and described no behavior indicating intoxication. The only person who was asked for any opinion was Eppie Duran, a friend of appellant's, who was in the car at the time of the accident. He described being with appellant for two and half hours before the accident and said that appellant was not unusual in his activities (R. 368). No other direct evidence, indeed no evidence, was proffered as to appellant's state of intoxication. As discussed in Point II the results of blood tests were admitted

into evidence over objection (see Point III A) and Dr. Finkle then described how at the time of driving the blood alcohol level would have been 0.05 and 0.08. As discussed in Point II appellant claims the giving of the that instruction was error because that presumption created by that instruction was virtually the only evidence that a jury could find that would lead to a conclusion he was under the influence of alcohol. Dr. Finkle described how immediately after taking a drink one's blood alcohol level would be almost immeasurable as the process of absorption from the stomach into the blood stream takes some time and usually does not reach a maximum peak for approximately 45 minutes to one hour. Therefore, even assuming that appellant had an alcoholic beverage to drink at 10:30, and Eppie Duran as described above did say that appellant was drinking something from a glass at 10:30 p.m., at 10:45 the blood alcohol level would have been low but could have been higher later at the time of the tests at 12:14 a.m. and 12:45 a.m., some one and a half hours and two hours after the driving and the accident. This Court has often stated that it can overturn a verdict on the ground of insufficiency of the evidence only when the evidence is so without foundation that reasonable minds must necessarily entertain a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt. See, for example, State v. Wilson, 565 P.2d 66 (Utah, 1977). Clearly in this case there was much sympathy for the child victim and the jury could easily have found the appellant's driving pattern was way out of line with what should occur. However, appellant contends that no reasonable mind could

have found that the evidence was sufficient to believe appellant was under the influence of intoxicating liquor at the time of the driving to such a degree that he was rendered incapable of safely driving a vehicle. Even if he was not safely driving a vehicle it does not follow that the level of intoxication, if there was one, is what rendered him incapable of driving. People operate vehicles unsafely every day without being under the influence of alcohol and appellant merely contends that where there was no evidence of intoxication the Court should have granted appellant's motion to dismiss and should not have sent the matter to the jury on that offense. Because the Court erred in not granting appellant's motion to dismiss this Court should reverse the conviction and set it aside.

POINT III A

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE EXHIBITS 11 AND 12, THE RESULTS OF BLOOD TESTS, BECAUSE THE STATE DID NOT ESTABLISH THE PROBATIVE VALUE OF SUCH TESTS.

Appellant contends that recent legislation compels that this Court declare the court below erred in allowing into evidence the blood alcohol test results because the tests were taken more than one hour after the accident and the State did not prove the probative value of such tests.

Lynn Davis testified, as a chemist, that he analyzed the blood taken from appellant at 12:14 a.m. and 12:48 a.m. on July 22, 1977, these samples being taken one and a half hours and two hours after the relevant time of 10:45 p.m. on July 21. He was

was allowed to state the results of 0.19 over objection by appellant that Utah Code Ann. §41-6-44.5 (1953 as amended) must first be complied with (R. 396). The objection was overruled. Appellant moved shortly thereafter for a mistrial based on the admission of such evidence (R. 399). The motion was seemingly denied and the State was told the necessary evidence must be forthcoming. Following the testimony of Dr. Finkle, the actual exhibits, 11 and 12, were admitted over objection (R. 460). These exhibits contained in written form the 0.19 result.

Appellant submits that all of the above was prejudicial error by the court below. The results and exhibits should not have been received. As discussed infra in Point II, the State did not show by expert testimony the probative value of the tests at the time of driving. Utah Code Ann. §41-6-44.5 (1953 as amended), infra, became effective July 1, 1977. L. 1977, Ch. 270, §1.

Appellant contends that the results of chemical tests were not admissible in the above matter under the law and facts of this case. The Auto Homicide Statute (76-5-207) provides in subsection (2):

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