1979

State of Utah v. Johnnie M. Chavez : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT AN ELEMENT OF AUTOMOBILE HOMICIDE IS NEGLIGENCE AND THAT TO SUSTAIN A CHARGE OF AUTOMOBILE HOMICIDE, THE JURY MUST FIND, AMONG OTHER ELEMENTS, THAT APPELLANT DROVE OR OPERATED HIS MOTOR VEHICLE IN A NEGLIGENT MANNER.

Appellant contends that the trial court erroneously instructed the jury in the elements of automobile homicide

because the court instructed the jury that simple negligence was the type of negligence that the State must prove. He further contends that the proper standard of negligence on which the jury should have been instructed and to which the State must be held in their burden of proof is criminal negligence.

Appellant concedes that his contention and argument has been rejected by the Utah Supreme Court in previous cases, State v. Durant, 561 P.2d 1056, (Utah, 1977), State v. Wade, 572 P.2d 398 (Utah, 1977), State v. Anderson, 561 P.2d 1061 (Utah, 1977), and State v. Risk, 520 P.2d 215 (Utah, 1974). He nevertheless argues that these cases should be overruled and the dissenting opinion of Justice Maughan in State v. Durant, supra, be adopted as law in this state. Such an argument by appellant is apparently based upon two statutory provisions, § 76-2-101, Utah Code Ann., (1953, as amended), and § 76-5-201, Utah Code Ann., (1953, as amended), which appellant claims are in conflict with the automobile homicide statute, § 76-5-207, Utah Code Ann., (1953, as amended).

Respondent submits that the law in this state is well settled, i.e., in an automobile homicide prosecution, the State need prove only simple negligence and not criminal negligence. State v. Durant, supra, at 1058; State v. Wade,

supra, at 400; State v. Anderson, supra, at 1063; State v. Risk, supra at 213.

Appellant has advanced no reason why this Court should reverse itself and change the present state of the law. Respondent submits there is no need for change, since the statutes cited by appellant are not in conflict. Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-201 (1953, as amended), speaks of the elements and ways in which one may commit criminal homicide:

(1) A person commits criminal homicide if he intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence unlawfully causes the death of another.

(2) Criminal homicide is murder in the first and second degree, manslaughter, or negligent homicide, or automobile homicide.

(Emphasis added).

Utah Code Ann., § 76-2-101 (1953, as amended), reads:

No person is guilty of an offense unless his conduct is prohibited by law and:

(1) He acts intentionally, knowingly, recklessly or with criminal negligence with respect to each element of the offense as the definition of the offense requires; or

(2) His acts constitute an offense involving strict liability.

(Emphasis added).

Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-207 (1953, as amended), defines automobile homicide:

(1) Criminal homicide constitutes automobile homicide if the actor, while under the influence of intoxicating liquor,

a controlled substance, or any drug, to a degree which renders the actor incapable of safely driving a vehicle, causes the death of another by operating a motor vehicle in a negligent manner. . . .

A careful reading of these statutes cited discloses no conflict. Sections 76-2-101 and 76-5-201 are both written in the disjunctive. A person, under the terms of § 76-5-201 may commit criminal homicide if he "intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence unlawfully causes the death of another." The statute does not require that the death be caused in all of the ways mentioned, only by one. The same principle holds true for § 76-2-101, where it specifies that one must act "intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence with respect to each element of the offense as the definition of the offense requires."

Applying §§ 76-5-201 and 76-2-101 to the automobile homicide section 76-5-207, it becomes evident that the elements of the offense of automobile homicide can be satisfied by one acting intentionally, or knowingly, or recklessly, or in a criminally negligent manner. As a specific example, one may be intentionally negligent, knowingly negligent, recklessly negligent, or negligent in a criminally negligent manner. Any manner is sufficient, as long as the evidence is sufficient to meet the burden of proof.

Furthermore, under the provisions of § 76-5-201, a person may commit criminal homicide (automobile homicide under 76-5-201(2)), in any one of four ways: intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or in a criminally negligent manner. As was stated in State v. Wade, 572 P.2d at 399, an act, in order to be labeled as one of criminal homicide under § 76-5-201, be it automobile homicide or otherwise, need not necessarily be committed in a criminally negligent manner. Thus, appellant's allegation that criminal negligence is an element of automobile homicide does not stand. Had the legislature intended for criminal negligence to be the standard of negligence to which the prosecutor was bound in an automobile homicide prosecution most certainly they would have specified so in § 76-5-207. Instead, the legislature used the term, ". . . causes the death of another . . . in a negligent manner . . ."

The trial judge instructed the jury on the elements of automobile homicide specifically as they appear in the Utah Code Annotated § 76-5-207 (1953, as amended). (R. 75, 76). These instructions were in harmony with the law as set forth by this Court in the Durant, Wade, Anderson and Risk cases. Appellant has advanced no valid reason for this Court to reverse itself. The lower court's instructions regarding the elements of automobile homicide and the degree of negligence required must therefore be upheld.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE PRESUMPTIONS CREATED BY A BLOOD ALCOHOL LEVEL ABOVE 0.08 SINCE THERE WAS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE GIVING OF SUCH AN INSTRUCTION.

Appellant alleges that it was reversible error for the trial court to instruct the jury on the presumptions created by a blood alcohol level above 0.08. He attempts to support such an allegation on the theory that no evidence existed to support such an instruction. Respondent submits that the record discloses evidence to support the giving of the instruction by the trial court regarding presumptions of being under the influence of intoxicating liquor (R. 78).²

Respondent agrees with appellant that in order to convict one of automobile homicide, the State must prove that a person was under the influence of intoxicating liquor to a degree which renders the person incapable of safely driving a vehicle.³ From that, the State must also prove that at the time of the driving which resulted in the death of Eric Skollingsberg, the appellant, Johnnie Chavez, was under the influence of alcohol. The trial court so instructed (R. 76).

2 The instruction given by the trial court was taken from Utah Code Ann., § 41-6-44(b) (1953, as amended).

3 Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-207 (1953, as amended).

A review of the evidence discloses that the state's expert witness, Dr. Bryan Finkle,⁴ was called to "relate back" or "extrapolate" the blood alcohol level of appellant at the time the blood was taken to the time of the accident. In doing this, Dr. Finkle used several figures and gave two figures as to what appellant's blood alcohol level was at the time of the accident. He stated that in general, a person consuming alcohol will reach their maximum alcohol concentration level approximately one hour following their last drink (T. 251). In other words, after all drinking has ceased, alcohol is absorbed into a person's system during the next hour until a maximum alcohol concentration level in the blood is reached. Following this, the alcohol begins to "clear" from the blood at approximately 0.02% per hour (T. 252).

The evidence disclosed that appellant's blood samples were taken at 12:14 a.m. and 12:45 a.m. on July 22, 1977, these times being some hour and a half and two hours after the accident at 10:45 p.m. on July 21, 1977 (T. 190-101). These samples were analyzed and found to contain .19 percent alcohol by weight (T. 214). There was no specific time as to when appellant had his last drink. However, several pieces of evidence gave clues from which a

⁴ Dr. Finkle, a toxicologist, pharmacologist, and pathologist at the University of Utah, qualified as an expert witness in Judge Baldwin's court at pages 247-258 of the trial transcript.

jury could infer time periods in which appellant would have had to have consumed his last drink. First appellant's friend Eppie Duran, had been with appellant during the evening of July 21, and testified that appellant had nothing to drink after 10:30 p.m. on July 21, fifteen minutes prior to the accident (T. 177). Duran stated that he saw appellant with a glass in his hand at 10:25 p.m., while they were at a friend's house (T. 177). Immediately prior to leaving their friend's house, appellant drank the liquid in the glass "real fast" (T. 177). Duran stated that he (himself) was drinking whiskey and coke, but he could not say for sure what appellant was drinking (T. 176). Respondent feels that at this point, based upon Duran's testimony, a jury could infer and/or deduce that if in fact whiskey or some type of alcohol was in appellant's glass just prior to leaving his friend's house, this drink would have been his last. Furthermore, Dr. Finkle's calculations, therefore, could be based upon 10:25 p.m. as a reference point for determining what the blood alcohol level was at 10:45 p.m., the time of the accident.

In determining the amount of alcohol appellant had consumed, Dr. Finkle testified that a person weighing the same as appellant (135 lbs.), would have to have about 3.5 fluid ounces of pure alcohol (7 fluid ounces of 100 proof alcohol) circulating in their body in order to obtain a

blood alcohol reading of .19% (T. 268). Since most whiskey is 80-proof, appellant would have had to consume about nine fluid ounces of whiskey to have reached a .19% reading (T. 26). A jury could, therefore, based upon Dr. Finkle's testimony, find that at 12:14 a.m. on July 22, 1977, appellant had at least 3.5 fluid ounces of pure alcohol (7 fluid ounces of 100 proof alcohol or 9 fluid ounces of 80 proof alcohol) circulating in his blood stream.

In relating back these figures to determine what the alcohol blood level would have been at 10:45 p.m., Dr. Finkle stated that such a figure would depend upon when the last drink was taken. Without knowing when the maximum alcohol concentration point occurred, and using the figure that alcohol clears the system at a rate of approximate .02% per hour, appellant's blood alcohol level at 10:45 p.m., would have been about .22%, which is well above the .08% of which appellant is complaining that there is no evidence (T. 262-264).

Dr. Finkle also stated that assuming alcohol was being absorbed, and the last drink was taken at 10:30 p.m., then maximum alcohol concentration level would be reached at approximately 11:30 p.m., and a chart which graphs alcohol absorption and alcohol blood content would intersect at 10:45 p.m. somewhere between .05 and .08% (T. 277). Dr. Finkle

however, noted that the possibility of someone who stopped drinking at approximately 10:30 p.m. and having a maximum blood alcohol concentration going from essentially zero (not having any drinking pattern), to 0.21% in one hour was extremely unlikely (T. 266). He then went on to elaborate on the amount of alcohol that appellant would have had to have consumed in order to show a reading of .19% at 12:14 a.m. (T. 266-269). He further stated that if such an amount of alcohol had been consumed over a long period of time, the body would have absorbed it and eliminated it at such a rate the person would never have built up any alcohol concentration at all (T. 269). A jury could therefore deduce or find that the amount of alcohol found to be present in appellant's blood at 12:14 a.m. (a fact), would have had to have been consumed over a rather short period of time. Since the alcohol level was at least at a .21% level at 11:14 p.m. on July 21, 1977, a jury could find that the alcohol blood level would have been at least .09% at 10:45 p.m., and probably much higher. As Dr. Finkle stated, the possibility of a person's alcohol blood level going from .08% at 10:45 p.m. (0% at 10:30 p.m., assuming appellant's one and only 9 ounce drink was consumed at 10:25 p.m.), to .21% at 11:14 p.m. is extremely remote. This would represent a jump of .13% alcohol blood level in 30 minutes. Based

upon this, a jury could find that appellant had consumed more than one 9 fluid ounce drink at 10:25, and had in fact been drinking throughout the evening. Furthermore, a jury could also find that appellant's blood level was well above .08% at the time of the accident, based upon Dr. Finkle's testimony, which in turn was based upon reasonable medical certainty.

Respondent thus submits that there was certainly ample evidence upon which to give point 3 of Instruction No. 17 (R. 78). Respondent also submits that case law supports respondent's position that the instruction was properly given.

State v. Bradley, 578 P.2d 1267 (Utah, 1978), which appellant cites, does not support his allegations, but instead supports respondent's argument and explains the law as it exists in Utah. In Bradley, defendant was convicted of driving under the influence, showed an alcohol blood level of .06% four hours after he ran a red light, and caused an accident. He alleged that the trial court should not have instructed the jury with regard to statutory presumptions based on blood alcohol levels present at the time of the incident because the state was allegedly unable to adequately extrapolate the chemical test results to that time. In agreeing with the defendant, the Court said:

Thus, in cases arising before
the enactment of 41-6-44.5, if the
state is unable to produce chemical

test results sufficient, to allow a presumption of intoxication when the test was administered, it must necessarily provide expert testimony to extrapolate the lower readings back to the time of the incident to show that a defendant's blood alcohol level was then sufficient to give rise to the presumption.

578 P.2d at 1269 (emphasis added).

It is certainly evident that the state in the case at bar has met all the requirements of Bradley. First, the state introduced chemical test results showing a .19% reading at the time the test was administered. This is well above the .08% requisite before a presumption of intoxication arises. Second, the state, through the use of expert testimony, extrapolated the results back to show a possible .22% reading at the time of the accident.⁵ Even using the situation, arguendo, where one drink was taken at 10:30 p.m., a reading going from zero to .21% in 45 minutes is extremely unlikely. Thus, a reading above .08% at 10:45 p.m., is at worst a very definite "reasonable medical certainty."

5 It is questionable whether or not according to the language in Bradley, the State is required to extrapolate the results back if the results at the time of testing show that the presumption cutoff (.08%) is met.

Finally, attention is called to three cases which support respondent's argument. In State v. Koklasch, Or. App., 502 P.2d 1158 (1972), defendant alleged that his case should not have been submitted to the jury because there was insufficient evidence to show what his blood alcohol content was at the time he was driving the automobile. The statute under which he was convicted prohibited driving a motor vehicle when the alcohol content was more than .15%. Defendant's test showed .23% 33 minutes after his arrest. The court held that the test results raised a rebuttable presumption that the blood alcohol content was not less than shown thereby when the defendant was driving.

In State v. Turner, 94 Idaho 548, 494 P.2d 146 (1972), the defendant objected to the giving of an instruction raising a presumption of intoxication. He was involved in an accident and took the breath test some two hours and 45 minutes later. The results showed .10%. The presumption of intoxication was "more than .10% by weight alcohol." In upholding the giving of the instruction, the Idaho Supreme Court said:

The test revealed a blood alcohol content of 0.10%. Since the alcohol content decreases at the rate of 0.01% to 0.02% per hour after the first forty-five to sixty minutes, the state's

chemical analyst testified that 0.10% was less than the "peak" alcohol content reached earlier that night. . . .

494 P.2d at 148.

Subsequent to Turner, the Idaho Supreme Court in State v. Sutliff, 97 Idaho 523, 547 P.2d 1128 (1976), held that:

. . . this statute [creating presumptions in a prosecution for Driving under the Influence] does not require extrapolation back but establishes that the percentage of blood alcohol as shown by chemical analysis relates back to the time of the alleged offense for purposes of applying the statutory presumption. . . .

547 P.2d at 1130 (emphasis added).

Respondent thus submits that the evidence was sufficient to warrant the giving of point 3 of Instruction No. 17, instructing the jury on the presumptions of intoxication.

POINT III.

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